# SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

## CASE NO.: 2007-CA-00945

The Estate of Theodore Davis, by and through Patricia Davis, Individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Theodore Davis, and on behalf of and for the use and benefit of the wrongful death beneficiaries of Theodore Davis,

vs.

Bedford Health Properties, LLC; Bedford Care Center of Hattiesburg, LLC; Hattiesburg Medical Park, Inc.; Hattiesburg Medical Park Management Corp.; Michael McElroy; Robert Perry; Unidentified John Does 1 through 10 (as to Bedford Care Center-Warren Hall) PLAINTIFF

DEFENDANTS

# **BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

# STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Whether the lower court erred in refusing to enforce a valid agreement to arbitrate.

,

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 25, 2004, Patricia Davis, Individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Theodore Davis, filed suit in Forrest County Circuit Court alleging Theodore Davis suffered personal injuries while a resident of Bedford Care Center-Monroe Hall.<sup>1</sup> 1 R.10-42. In response and in lieu of filing an answer to the specific allegations of the Complaint, the named Defendants, Bedford Health Properties, LLC, Hattiesburg Medical Park, Inc., Hattiesburg Medical Park Management Corp., Michael McElroy, Jr. and Robert Perry requested the lower court stay proceedings and enforce arbitration pursuant to the terms and conditions of the November 12, 2002 Admission Agreement entered into between Patricia Davis, Wife and Responsible Party of Theodore Davis, and Bedford Care Center-Monroe Hall.<sup>2</sup> 1 R. 45-53. Thereafter, Scott Clifton "Toby" Davis, son of Theodore Davis, acting as Intervener, objected to the binding nature of the arbitration agreement because he was not a party thereto. 1 R. 78–89. Patricia Davis also refused to submit her claims to binding arbitration, arguing the Admission Agreement was unconscionable, unenforceable and illegal. 1 R. 90-130. Following full briefing on the matter, the lower court denied Defendants' Motion to Dismiss and Motion to Compel Arbitration and Stay Proceedings. 2 R. 183.

<sup>1</sup>Appellants citation form is as follows: Citation to the record is (\_\_\_\_R. \_\_) and (Supp.R. \_\_\_).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>On June 30, 2006 a final judgment was entered dismissing McElroy-York Life Care Facilities, LLC and McElroy-York Life Care Community, LLC.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At the time of admission to Bedford Care Center-Monroe Hall, although only sixty-five (65) years of age, Theodore Davis had been diagnosed with Alzheimer's and Dementia. 1 R. 143. Prior to admission he had also suffered from five (5) strokes. *Id.* On November 12, 2002, Patricia Davis, executed an updated Admission Agreement containing a binding agreement to arbitrate. Supp.R. 217-223. Section "E" of the Admission Agreement entitled,

"ARBITRATION - <u>PLEASE READ CAREFULLY</u>", provided that any claim arising out of or related to the admission agreement or the care Theodore Davis received at the Facility would be resolved exclusively through binding arbitration pursuant to the Federal Arbitration Act. Supp.R. 221-22. This section of the Admission Agreement had a space for resident or responsible party to initial. *Id.* Ms. Davis initialed this section, thus evidencing her having carefully read the provision.

This Section also provided, in bold font: "The parties understand and agree that by entering this Arbitration Agreement they are giving up and waiving their constitutional right to have any claim decided in a court of law before a judge and a jury." Supp.R. 221. Contained within Section "E" was also a right to rescind:

> The Resident and/or Responsible Party understand that: (1) he/she has the right to seek legal counsel concerning this Agreement, (2) the execution of this Arbitration is not a precondition to the furnishing of services to the Resident by the Facility, and (3) this Arbitration Agreement may be rescinded by written notice to the Facility from the Resident within 30 days of signature. If not rescinded within 30 days, this Arbitration Agreement shall remain in effect for all care and services subsequently rendered at the Facility, even if such care and services are rendered following the Resident's discharge and readmission to the Facility.

Supp.R. 222. The agreement was never rescinded.

In executing the updated Admission Agreement, Patricia Davis acted consistent with the September 20, 2000 Durable Power of Attorney for Health Care of Theodore Alton Davis, wherein she was designated as his "Agent to make Health-Care Decisions." Supp.R. 234-245. Pursuant to the power of attorney, Ms. Davis, had authority to make health care decisions on her husbands behalf, including the "selection and discharge of Health Care Providers and Institutions...." *Id.* 

On August 25, 2004, in complete disregard for the binding contract previously executed, Patricia Davis filed suit in the Circuit Court of Forrest County, Mississippi. 1 R. 10-42. In an effort to avoid the arbitrable forum, she argued the agreement to arbitrate was unconscionable and the entire Admission Agreement was void and/or illegal. 1 R. 90-130. The lower court found her arguments persuasive and denied Defendants' Motion. 2 R. 183. This appeal ensued.

## **ARGUMENT**

#### I. Standard of Review.

"The decision to grant or deny a motion to compel arbitration is reviewed by this Court *de* novo." Equifirst Corp. v. Jackson, 920 So. 2d 458, 461 (Miss. 2006) (citing Doleac v. Real Estate Professionals, LLC, 911 So. 2d 496, 501 (Miss. 2005)); see also East Ford, Inc. v. Taylor, 826 So. 2d 709, 713 (Miss. 2002). "This Court has consistently recognized the existence of a 'liberal federal policy favoring arbitration agreements."" Terminix International, Inc. v. Rice, 904 So. 2d 1051, 1054-55 (Miss. 2004) (quoting Russell v. Performance Toyota, Inc., 826 So. 2d 719, 722 (Miss. 2002). Arbitration is firmly embedded in both our federal and state laws. Pass Termite & Pest Control, Inc. v. Walker, 904 So. 2d 1030, 1032-33 (Miss. 2004) (citing Russell, 826 So. 2d 719; East Ford, 826 So. 2d 709; and IP Timberlands Operating Co. v. Denmiss Corp., 726 So. 2d 96 (Miss. 1998)).

# II. The November 12, 2002 agreement to arbitrate is valid and should be enforced.

As this is an issue of contract construction, basic contract principles apply. Mississippi has long followed the four-corners rule when interpreting a contract. The goal of a court is to give effect to the intent of the parties. *Heartsouth, PLLC v. Boyd*, 865 So. 2d 1095, 1105 (Miss. 2003). "The general rule is the intention of the parties must be drawn from the words of the whole contract, and if, viewing the language used, it is clear and explicit, then the court must give effect to this contract unless it contravenes public policy." *Id.* (quoting *Jones v. Miss. Farms Co.*, 116 Miss. 295, 76 So. 880, 884 (1917)).

In looking to the four-corners, "'the court's concern is not nearly so much with what the parties may have intended but with what they said, since the words employed are by far the best resource for ascertaining the intent and assigning the meaning with fairness and accuracy." *Id.* (quoting *Warwick v. Gautier Utility District*, 738 So. 2d 212, 214 (Miss. 1999)). "Contracts must be interpreted by objective, not subjective standards, therefore '[c]ourts must ascertain the meaning of the language actually used, and not some possible but unexpressed intent of the parties." *Id.* (quoting *IP Timberlands Operating Co.*, 726 So. 2d at 105).

On November 12, 2002, Patricia Davis initialed her understanding of the following agreement to arbitrate:

It is understood and agreed by the Facility and Resident and/or Responsible Party that any legal dispute, controversy, demand or claim (hereinafter collectively referred to as "claim" or "claims") that arises out of or relates to the Admission Agreement or any service or health care provided by the Facility to the Resident, shall be resolved exclusively by binding arbitration pursuant to the Federal Arbitration Act, to be conducted at a place agreed upon by the parties, or in the absence of such agreement, at the Facility, in accordance with the American Health Lawyers Association ("AHLA") Alternative Dispute Resolution Service Rules of Procedure for Arbitration which are hereby incorporated into this agreement, and not by a lawsuit or resort to court process except to the extent that applicable state or federal law provides for judicial review of arbitration proceedings or the judicial enforcement of arbitration awards.

This agreement to arbitrate includes, but is not limited to, any claim for payment, nonpayment or refund for services rendered to the Resident by the Facility, violations of any rights granted to the Resident by law or by the Admission Agreement, breach of contract, fraud or misrepresentation, negligence, gross negligence, malpractice or any other claim based on any departure from accepted standards of medical or health care or safety whether sounding in tort or in contract. However, this agreement to arbitrate shall not limit the Resident's right to file a grievance or complaint, formal or informal, with the Facility or any appropriate state or federal agency.

#### \*\*\*\*\*

The parties understand and agree that by entering into this Arbitration Agreement they are giving up and waiving their constitutional right to have any claim decided in a court of law before a judge and a jury.

Supp.R. 221. The terms of the contract are clear - - each party must submit to binding arbitration

any claims against the other arising out of Theodore Davis' residency at Bedford Care Center -

Monroe Hall. As such, the lower court erred in denying arbitration.

#### **III.** Patricia Davis had authority to bind her husband to arbitration.

# A. The September 20, 2000 Durable Power of Attorney for Health Care, executed by Theodore Davis, provided Patricia Davis full authority to act on his behalf.

"Generally speaking, our law regards as valid and enforceable as a power of attorney any written instrument signed by the principal and 'expressing plainly the authority conferred."" *Kountouris v. Varvaris*, 476 So. 2d 599 (Miss. 1985) (quoting Mississippi Code Annotated § 83-3-7)). "A designated power of attorney is nothing more than one form of a principal-agency relationship." *Clark v. Ritchey*, 759 So. 2d 516, 518 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) (citing *McKinney v. King*, 498 So. 2d 387, 388-89 (Miss. 1986)).

Patricia Davis, acting as her husband's agent, possessed the authority to make health care decisions for her husband, which included executing an updated Admission Agreement containing an agreement to arbitrate. There is no evidence Mr. Davis ever revoked this authority given in September of 2000. Supp.R. 234-45.

Although no case law is on point in Mississippi, an appellate court in California has upheld an arbitration provision contained within an admission agreement executed by a family member, acting as a resident's attorney-in-fact. In *Hogan v. Country Villa Health Services*, a California appellate court found a resident's designation of her daughter in a durable power of attorney for health care authorized the daughter to enter into a binding arbitration agreement with a nursing home. 148 Cal. App. 4<sup>th</sup> 259 (2007). The *Hogan* court held the lower court erred in denying the facility's motion to compel arbitration:

> The decedent had signed a Probate Code section 4701 health care power of attorney that authorized her daughter to make health care decisions for her, including the selection of health care providers.

: .

This authorization impliedly included the power to execute contracts of admission when having the decedent admitted to a long-term health care facility. *Inasmuch as the decedent had not elected to restrict the powers of the daughter as her agent so as to exclude the power to enter into arbitration agreements, the daughter had the power to execute arbitration agreements when presented to her by the long-term health care facility as part of the package of admissions documents.* 

*Id.* at 262. (Emphasis supplied). Patricia Davis' actions were consistent with authority conferred by Theodore Davis; this, it was erred to deny arbitration.

# B. Alternatively, Patricia Davis acted as Theodore Davis' health care surrogate on November 12, 2002, when she executed the updated Admission Agreement on his behalf.

Should the Court determine Patricia Davis' authority, by virtue of the durable power of attorney for health care, to not include the ability to agree to an alternative forum for resolution of disputes, authority can be found in Mississippi's Health Care Surrogate Statute.<sup>3</sup> *See* Mississippi Code Annotated § 41-41-211. Necessarily, the authority granted to make those decisions must include the ability to enter into contracts concerning that care. The Mississippi Legislature has specifically provided that a "health care decision made by a surrogate is effective without judicial approval." Miss. Code Ann. § 41-41-211(7). By enacting this Statute, the Legislature recognized Mississippi citizens would be subjected to unnecessary expense, delay and bureaucratic red tape if family members were required to seek judicial approval prior to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Contracts concerning the provision of health care are an integral part of the health care industry and the practice of medicine. In order to make decisions about the medical care a patient is to receive, a surrogate must be able to enter into binding agreements to bring those decisions to fruition. In *Consolidated Resources Health Care Fund, I, Ltd., v. Fenelus*, a Florida appellate court held the resident's son as the resident's health care surrogate, "could execute the admission agreement, enforcing the arbitration provision contained therein." 853 So. 2d 500 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2003).

entering into contracts concerning the health care of their loved ones. Rather than allow that scenario play out, the Legislature codified the ability of health care surrogates, like Patricia Davis, to enter into contracts such as the one before the Court.

In Covenant Health & Rehab of Picayune, LP v. Brown, the Court applied the Statute in the long-term care context, finding a surrogate had the power to enter into a contract requiring the resident arbitrate any claims he may have arising out of the treatment while at the Facility. 949 So. 2d 732, 737 (Miss. 2007). The Court found a health care surrogate's signature on a contract containing an arbitration agreement dictated any dispute arising out of that contract be submitted to binding arbitration. *Id.* at 742.

Based upon the clear language of the Statute, as well as the Court's recent ruling in *Brown*, it is clear Patricia Davis acted as her husband's health care surrogate on November 12, 2002. She stepped into this role and contractually bound him in matters of health care, including the agreement to arbitrate "any legal dispute, controversy, demand or claim . . . that arises out of or relates to the Admission Agreement or any service or health care provided by the Facility. . . ." Supp.R. 221. Thus, the lower court's denial of arbitration constitutes reversible error.

# C. Patricia Davis possessed apparent authority to enter into a contract on behalf of her husband, Theodore Davis.

In addition to the above authority held by Patricia Davis, she further acted with apparent authority in entering into the updated Admission Agreement. The agreement to arbitrate now before the Court was executed by Patricia Davis, who held herself out to the Facility as her husband's Responsible Party and health care surrogate. In executing the contract, Ms. Davis specifically represented she had authority to act on his behalf. Theodore Davis accepted the

٤

ι.

{ : { .

ι.

ì.

An agent is one who stands in the shoes of his principal; he is his principal's alter ego.

*Bailey v. Worton*, 752 So. 2d 470, 474 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999). An agent is one who acts for and in the place of another by authority from him; one who undertakes to transact some business or manage some affairs for another by his authority. *Id.* In *Bailey*, the Mississippi Court of Appeals further explained:

This Court has defined apparent authority and found that the extent to which it binds the principal is predicated upon the perception of the third party in his dealings with the agent:

Apparent authority exists when a reasonably prudent person, having knowledge of the nature and the usages of the business involved would be justified in supposing, based on the character of the duties entrusted to the agent, that the agent has the power he is assumed to have.

Id. (quoting Eaton v. Porter, 645 So. 2d 1323, 1325 (Miss. 1994)).

*Broughsville v. OHECC, LLC*, further supports the argument Patricia Davis had authority to execute the updated Admission Agreement. 2005 WL 3483777 (Ohio App. 9 Dist. 2005). In *Broughsville*, an Ohio appellate court reviewed whether "Appellant's daughter . . . had the authority to bind Appellant to arbitration, effectively waiving her right to a jury trial." *Id.* at \*1. The court held, "[e]ven setting aside the arguably self-serving nature of this statement, the question is not whether [the daughter] had *actual* authority to bind Appellant to arbitration, but whether she had apparent authority to do so." *Id.* (Emphasis in original). The court explained how authority may arise in the long-term care context:

> The authority for one party to bind another can arise in several ways. The Ohio Supreme Court has held that: 'Even when assuming to act as agent for a party in the making of a contract has no actual authority to so act, such party will be bound by the contract if such party has by his words or conduct, reasonably interpreted, caused the other party

to the contract to believe that the one assuming to act as agent had the necessary authority to make the contract.'

Id. (Citations omitted).

The *Broughsville* court next found apparent authority present, bringing the appellant under the guise of arbitration:

The present case is a classic example of apparent authority. [The resident's daughter] by signing the Agreement on behalf of her mother, acted in such a way that a reasonable person could believe that she had the necessary authority to make the contract. Regardless of actual authority, circumstances were such at the time of the signing that [the daughter's] conduct could be interpreted as authority to enter into an agreement on Appellant's behalf.

Id.

When Patricia Davis came to Bedford Care Center-Monroe Hall, she read, signed, and agreed to the terms of the updated Admission Agreement, and held herself out as her husband's substitute. Bedford Care Center-Monroe Hall believed, just as the archetypical reasonable, prudent person would, that Patricia Davis had the authority to act on Theodore Davis' behalf. Accordingly, the lower court erred in denying arbitration.

## IV. Theodore Davis was a third-party beneficiary to the Admission Agreement.

It is undisputed that Theodore Davis received care and services from Bedford Care Center-Monroe Hall based upon the terms and conditions of the updated Admission Agreement and, therefore, benefitted from the agreement. "'[A]rbitration agreements can be enforced against nonsignatories if such non-signatory is a third-party beneficiary." *Trinity Mission of Clinton, LLC v. Barber*, \_\_\_\_ So. 2d \_\_\_, 2007 WL 2421720, at \*5 (Miss. Ct. App. Aug. 28, 2007 (Rehearing denied Dec.11, 2007)(quoting *Adams v. Greenpoint Credit, LLC*, 943 So. 2d 703, 708 (Miss. 2006)). This Court has held as follows with regard to a third-party beneficiary - such as Theodore Davis- to a

contract:

In order for the third person beneficiary to have a cause of action, the contracts between the original parties must have been entered into for his benefit, or at least such benefit must be the direct result of the performance within the contemplation of the parties as shown by its terms. There must have been a legal obligation or duty on the part of the promise to such third person beneficiary. This obligation must have been a legal duty which connects the beneficiary with the contract. In other words, the right of the third party beneficiary to maintain an action on the contract must spring from the terms of the contract itself.

Burns v. Washington Savs., 171 So. 2d 322, 325 (Miss. 1965).

In Barber, the Mississippi Court of Appeals very recently held, in analyzing a resident's

admission to a nursing home:

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