#### IN THE MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT Case No. 2007-CA-00945

BEDFORD HEALTH PROPERTIES, LLC; BEDFORD CARE CENTER OF HATTIESBURG, LLC; HATTIESBURG MEDICAL PARK, INC.; HATTIESBURG MEDICAL PARK MANAGEMENT CORP.; MICHAEL MCELROY; ROBERT PERRY; UNIDENTIFIED JOHN DOES 1 THROUGH 10 (AS TO BEDFORD CARE CENTER-WARREN HALL)

**APPELLANTS** 

٧.

THE ESTATE OF THEODORE DAVIS, BY AND THROUGH PATRICIA DAVIS, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE, FOR THE USE AND BENEFIT OF THE ESTATE OF THEODORE DAVIS AND FOR THE USE AND BENEFIT OF THE WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF THEODORE DAVIS

APPELLEE

# APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF FORRESTCOUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

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

#### **Summary of the Argument**

The trial court should be affirmed. Theodore Davis did not sign the arbitration clause in this case. His wife did. His wife, however, had no authority to bind Mr. Davis to an arbitration clause. Mr. Davis is presumed competent until proven otherwise by a physician, and no such proof exists in this case. The durable power of attorney signed by Mr. Davis was for health care decisions only. Despite Defendants' attempt to hide an arbitration agreement in a purported "admission agreement" given to Mrs. Davis months after Mr. Davis' admission to their facility, it is clear that the arbitration agreement at issue is a separate and distinct document that is not a health care decision defined under the power of attorney or Mississippi law.

As the Mississippi Supreme Court held in *Mississippi Care Center of Greenville*, *LLC v. Hinyub*, --- So. 2d ----, 2008 WL 44008 (Miss. 2008), currently on Motion for Rehearing, Mrs. Davis' signing the arbitration agreement in this matter was not a part of the consideration necessary for admission to the home, thus it was not a "health care decision." *Hinyub*, at \*5-\*6, R. 222. Thus, no agreement to arbitrate exists. Further, no evidence of implied authority exists in this case. The record is devoid of any representation made by Theodore Davis that could be construed to create such authority. The trial court was right to reject this argument.

Arbitration cannot be compelled on a third-party-beneficiary theory. First, the Mississippi Supreme Court has clearly held that this theory is not available where there is no binding, underlying contract with the resident, such as here. *Grenada Living Center LLC v. Coleman*, 961 So. 2d 33 (Miss. 2007). Second, for the theory to apply, Plaintiff must be suing on the contract, and none of Plaintiff's causes of action are

contract theories. Finally, in order for the theory to apply, a contract between Mrs. Davis and Defendants would have to exist, and one does not.

As an additional point, this case is not arbitrable under the terms of the contract for arbitration. The Rules of Procedure of the American Health Lawyers Association are incorporated into the clause. Those Rules hold that a pre-dispute arbitration clause in this sort of case will not be enforced. This clause is a pre-dispute clause. Therefore, Plaintiff's claim is not arbitrable. Plaintiff therefore requests that this Court affirm the Circuit Court of Forrest County and allow Plaintiff to proceed with her claims before that Court.

#### **Argument**

This appeal is from a denial of a motion to compel arbitration. This Court reviews motions to compel arbitration *de novo*. *Vicksburg Partners, L.P. v. Stephens*, 911 So.2d 502 (Miss. 2005). Moreover, the issues presented in this case are questions of law, namely whether a valid arbitration clause exists, thus *de novo* review is appropriate.

In determining whether parties should be compelled to arbitrate a dispute, courts perform a two-step inquiry. R.M. Perez & Associates, Inc. v. Welch, 960 F.2d 534, 538 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1992). "First, the court must determine whether the parties agreed to arbitrate the dispute in question. This determination involves considerations: (1) Whether there is a valid agreement to arbitrate between the parties; and (2) whether the dispute in question falls within the scope of that arbitration agreement." Am. Heritage Life Ins. Co. v. Beasley, 174 F. Supp. 2d 450, 454 (N.D. Miss. 2001) (citing 9 U.S.C. § 4). See also Pre-Paid Legal Services, Inc. v. Battle, 873 So. 2d 79, 83 (Miss. 2004). If the Court finds that the parties agreed to arbitrate, "it must then consider whether a federal statute or policy renders the claims nonarbitrable." Ibid. "A party seeking to avoid arbitration must allege and prove that the arbitration provision itself was a product of fraud or coercion; alternatively, that party can allege and prove that another ground exists at law or in equity that would allow the parties' contract or agreement to be revoked." Ibid. (citing Sam Reisfeld & Son Import Co. v. S.A. Eteco, 530 F.2d 679, 680-81 (5th Cir. 1976)).

The policy of favoring arbitration applies *only* after a valid arbitration agreement has been found. See *Mariner Health Care et al v. Kay and Lawrence Guthrie, Jr., et al,* 

Civil Action No. 5:04cv218-DCB-JCS, p. 6, fn 4 (S.D. Miss. 2005) (citing *Fleetwood Enters., Inc. v. Garkamp*, 280 F. 3d 1069, 1070 & 1070 n.5 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2002)) (emphasis in original). An agreement to arbitrate is treated like any other contract. *Kresock v. Bankers Trust Co.*, 21 F.3d 176, 178 (7th Cir.1994). A party cannot be forced to submit to arbitration if he has not agreed to arbitrate his dispute. *May v. Higbee, Co.*, 372 F. 3d 757, 763 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2004). In determining whether a valid arbitration agreement arose between the parties, a court should look to the state law that ordinarily governs the formation of contracts. 9 U.S.C. § 2; *First Options of Chicago, Inc. v. Kaplan,* 514 U.S. 938, 943 (1995).

The trial court was correct to refuse to compel arbitration in this case. First, no contract for arbitration exists because the person who signed the arbitration clause lacked authority to bind Mr. Davis to arbitrate his claims. Also, under the material terms of this contract, arbitration is not available because the clause is a pre-dispute arbitration clause not arbitrable by its very terms. Each point will be addressed in turn below.

## I. Binding Precedent Controls this Case.

This case is actually quite easy to decide because its outcome is dictated by a recent precedent of this Court, *Grenada Living Center LLC v. Coleman*, 961 So. 2d 33 (Miss. 2007) and by cases that make the law of apparent agency clear and inapplicable here such as *Eaton v. Porter*, 645 So. 2d 894 (Miss. 1994).<sup>2</sup> Further, discussion by the Court in *Mississippi Care Center of Greenville*, *LLC v. Hinyub*, --- So. 2d ----, 2008 WL 44008 (Miss. 2008), further indicates that the Circuit Court was correct. During this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Defendants' counsel also represented the nursing home in *Hinyub* and *Coleman* and, as will be seen, advanced the same arguments in those cases that are advanced in the case at bar.

cause, Defendants have offered four separate bases on which Plaintiff should be bound to this arbitration clause: Mrs. Davis possessed a durable power of attorney, Mrs. Davis possessed authority as a "health-care surrogate"; Mrs. Davis possessed "apparent" authority; and Mr. Davis must be bound as a third-party beneficiary. As will be seen, the second and fourth points were directly addressed and rejected by *Coleman* and the third is disposed of by *Porter*. Further, the discussion in *Hinyub* further establishes that the decision to arbitrate is not a healthcare decision and thus the first point must be dismissed, as Mrs. Davis only held a limited power of attorney for health care decisions. Thus, Defendants' argument regarding the limited power of attorney held by Mrs. Davis is also without merit. These cases show that the trial court was correct. Defendants have also argued that equitable estoppel applies. As set forth below, such is not the case.

#### A. Coleman is Dispositive of Two Issues.

Cephus Coleman was a World War II veteran who was wheelchair-bound because of a battle wound. Well into his seventies, his sister could no longer care for him so she admitted him to the Grenada Living Center. The home had her sign the admission documents including an arbitration clause. The parties stipulated that Mr. Coleman was competent at the time of admission. They also stipulated that Mr. Coleman was not present when the agreement was signed, and that the sister did not have a power of attorney, guardianship or conservatorship over her brother.

Mr. Coleman died while a resident of the nursing home and his son filed suit against it. The nursing home "responded with the now-familiar motion to dismiss in favor of arbitration." *Coleman*, at 35. The trial court denied the motion, and the nursing

home appealed. It argued that the sister could bind him to the contract for arbitration as a health-care surrogate, that she possessed express and implied authority, and that Mr. Coleman was bound as a third-party beneficiary to the contract of admission. This Court defined the question in the case as "Is a competent person who is not a signatory to a contract bound by an arbitration clause contained within the contract?" *Id.* at 36.

Each issue was addressed in turn. The nursing home, again, argued that the sister acted as Mr. Coleman's "surrogate" under the Uniform Healthcare Decisions Act. Miss. Code Ann. § 41-41-203, et seq. This Court rejected that argument, writing as follows:

Section 1 of the statute defines the requirements for any person who wishes to be a surrogate. There are two pre-conditions: "A surrogate may make a health-care decision for a patient who is an adult or emancipated minor *if* [1] the patient has been determined by the primary physician to lack capacity and [2] no agent or guardian has been appointed or the agent or guardian is not reasonably available." Miss. Code Ann. § 41-41-211(Rev. 2005) (emphasis added). Therefore, a close reading of the statute reveals that a prerequisite before any other analysis is that a patient may only have a surrogate if they do not have mental capacity to make decisions and they do not have any other person legally available to care for them. Sections 2 and 3 of the statute define who may be a surrogate, but the preconditions of Section 1 must first be met.

¶ 13. In the case at hand, the parties stipulated that Mr. Coleman was competent, and no physician had declared him incompetent. In addition, no agent or guardian had been appointed, and so the first pre-requisite of Section 1 was not met. Accordingly, Mr. Coleman's half-sister Anne could not have been his health-care surrogate. Further, it is clear from the statute that the Legislature intended to create a system whereby a family member (or other *de facto* guardian) could tend to the health needs of a loved one when they were incapacitated. Because Mr. Coleman was not incapacitated, the statutes governing health care surrogates do not apply.

Id. at 37, (emphasis in original). The "if" is key. Before this statute can even arguably generate authority to contract, its elements must be met.

The nursing home's argument that no "authority" was required to bind a nursing home resident was rejected because no law supported it. *Id.*. Express authority was easily disposed of because it was stipulated that no power of attorney or other express grant had been made. *Id.* at 37. Implied authority was rejected due to a procedural bar. *Id.* 

This Court then turned to the third-party-beneficiary issue. The nursing home pointed to cases such as *Smith Barney, Inc. v. Henry*, 775 So. 2d 722 (Miss. 2001), and *Terminix International v. Rice*, 904 So. 2d 1051 (Miss. 2004), for the proposition that non-signatories who benefit from a contract can be forced to arbitrate claims arising under it. This Court, however, held that those cases did not apply to the facts in *Coleman*, writing as follows:

Those cases remain binding precedent, and this case does not stand for the proposition that non-signatories to a contract containing an arbitration clause can never be bound by arbitration. Here, the trial court reasoned in accordance with the stipulations of the parties that "nobody had the authority to speak for Cephus Coleman, Jr. except himself," and therefore "there is no binding written contract between Cephus Coleman, Jr. and the nursing home requiring arbitration." We find this reasoning persuasive. Any wrongful death beneficiaries of Cephus can be bound only to the extent he would be bound. Because there was no contract between Cephus and the nursing home in the first place, no arbitration clause exists to be enforced against the wrongful death beneficiaries of Cephus.

#### Coleman, at 38.

Justice Carlson's concurring opinion was even more pointed. He set forth several of the cases where the doctrine had been applied, and pointed out that it required a contract between two principals that someone is a direct beneficiary of before it could be applied. A nursing home resident cannot be a third-party beneficiary of what is supposed to be his or her own contract, thus the cases are all distinguishable.

#### B. Coleman Destroys the Surrogacy Argument.

Coleman controls this case and holds that no authority existed under the surrogacy statute. Mr. Davis's wife simply was not his surrogate under the statute. It is true that these parties have not stipulated to capacity, however no such stipulation is necessary for Plaintiff to prevail. The statute itself holds that "an individual is presumed to have capacity to make a health-care decision, to give or revoke an advance health-care directive, and to designate or disqualify a surrogate." Miss. Code Ann. § 41-41-223(2). A person may only be determined to be incapacitated by his or her physician. Miss. Code\_Ann. § 41-41-211(1). Absent such a determination by her physician, capacity is assumed and the statute does not apply. Coleman tells us this much. The "if" so prevalent in Justice Diaz's opinion predominates here as well. Defendants have made statements regarding Mr. Davis' capacity. However, no medical records or determination by Mr. Davis' physician is included in the record. Thus, Defendants' have failed to meet their burden and the Circuit Court of Forrest County was correct in denying arbitration.

Moreover, other elements of the statute have not been met on this evidentiary record. Section 41-41-215 of the Mississippi Code holds that "before implementing a health-care decision made for a patient, a supervising health-care provider, if possible, shall promptly communicate to the patient the decision made and the identity of the person making the decision." This record does not indicate that the decision to choose arbitration was ever made to Mr. Davis or that Mrs. Davis had made it for him. Just like the capacity determination, this step is a necessary prerequisite under the statute Defendants rely on and it has not been met.

These points are not mere trivial matters. Defendants wish to deprive Mr. Davis's Estate and wrongful death beneficiaries of their right to access to the courts and a trial by a jury of Mississippi citizens even though Mr. Davis himself admittedly never signed an arbitration clause. Defendants carry the burden of establishing authority to contract on his behalf, and have chosen to rely on this statute to do it. Having chosen that path, they must live with its mandates, and strict adherence to its terms are required. They have not proved authority under this statute because they have not paid attention to its evidentiary elements. That failure is fatal to their argument. Again, the Circuit Court was right because no authority exists.

This case is similar to the facts found in *Hinyub*, *supra*. In *Hinyub*, the Mississippi Supreme Court found that the record was devoid of information to properly determine if the plaintiff could as act as the resident's health care surrogate, as the resident's primary physician had not determined that the resident lacked capacity to make his own health care decisions. Like in *Hinyub*, neither party in this matter has presented a declaration of Mr. Davis' primary physician stating that Mr. Davis was incapable of managing his affairs prior to Mrs. Davis' signing the admissions agreement that contained the arbitration agreement.

One final point regarding express authority is necessary. Defendants' brief is convoluted, and it is difficult to tell whether Defendants assert some undefined express authority or not. They mix elements of ratification with protestations about express authority arising from actions of Mrs. Davis. While these arguments have no basis in the law, one need look no further than *Coleman* to address them. These very arguments were rejected in that case. Express authority does not exist here.

## C. Coleman Controls on Third-Party Beneficiary.

The third-party-beneficiary argument must meet the same fate. *Coleman* could not be more clear: "nobody had the authority to speak for Cephus Coleman, Jr. except himself," and therefore "there is no binding written contract between Cephus Coleman, Jr. and the nursing home requiring arbitration." *Coleman*, at 38. Likewise, nobody had the authority to speak for Theodore Davis except himself and therefore there is no binding contract between Theodore Davis and the nursing home requiring arbitration.

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